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After 270 years, durin|
stock of records constant
rooms in the Kaiserspital had
too small. The management 1
building demanded a new building *
which the archive would have light,
fire-resistant rooms ... where all current
and future holdings can be safely held
in custody ... and which would be loca-
ted at a shorter distance from the ...
court office”. The new building in
Johannesgasse was completed in 1848;
in the weeks from June 26 to August 19,
1848, the entire archive, comprising
20,000 fascicles, 7,000 books, a collec-
tion of documents, calendars, mining
maps and files, were moved to their
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new destination. Grillparzer's succes-

johann Prechtler
was né?*o%yp ‘a personal
riend of the poet’s, but also a literary
figure. Although he is hardly known
today, he was famous in his days for
numerous stage plays and opera
libretti, and for the lyric poetry that was
held in esteem by his contemporaries.
He was awarded the Gold Medal for the
Arts and Sciences.
His successorm
ner (1811-1898),

ce, Karl Oberleit-
0 was a renowned

 historical writer, was appointed direc-

5. However, he held this posi-
erely cme year,ffor he inheri-
was able to
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ture. In 1873 F‘ , er (1840—
1882) was app« o the post. He
was the first director of the archive to
have graduated from the Institute for
Historical Research that had been foun-
ded 20 years earlier. The appointment
of a specialized historian to this post
was in keeping with the new focus of
work in the archive: historical research.

ef von

¥ Hxs-,m_

' the Joint

department de
affairs of this

nia should belong. In
became the governor
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2, 1916. On the journey back to his
office in Belgrade, he was killed in a
railway accident near Budapest. He
remained in office until his death and,
of all the directors, he had the most
outstanding career.

After the First World War, the Hof-
more
popular with' foreign and Austrian re-
searchers. In 1937, in order to accom-
modate to their needs, the records sto-
red on the fourth floor of the archive
were removed to make space for a large
research room and offices for the staff.
This change in the function of the li ht
fourth floor had become possible

a lift had been installed in the bunldmg
In 1950/51 the loft of the Hofkammer-
archiv was converted to create two

floors for the stérage of archival material.
Thus it was possible to take over the
records of t e years 1821-18”48 ‘which
had -hith‘ been. in the
Finanzarchiv, where S were
very crowded The col *tiﬁ‘o the
basement in 1983/84 another
measure throu whmh er space
was created. reviplizanon of
the entire bmldlng in the years 1980 to
1984, and the mstaljatxo of a small
restorers’  workshop  a several
additional han  in 1986/87

the time-honoured Hofkam

is today inan exe@il

Firiﬁfl‘c&-‘in 1'848, the Hof-
e .;j hiv retained its original
Vit was subordinated to
y of Finance. After the Aus-
ian compromise, the Hof-
archiv was officially renamed

nanzministeriums” (archive of the
joint ministry of finance of the empire)
and was placed under the control of this
ministry. The name Hofkammerarchiv,
however, continued to be commonly
used, if for no other reason than to
avoid any confusion with the Finanz-
archivfounded in 1892 and subordina-
ted to the Austrian Ministry of Finance.
After the First World War, the archive
was officially renamed, being given its
original name  Hofkammerarchiv.
Despite intensive efforts on the part of
the Ministry of Finance, the archive did
not remain under its control. In connec-



mining area of Schemnitz.

tion with the austerity measures initia-
ted by the Geneva Protocols of October
1922 and the merger of ministries, the
archive was put under the control of the
Federal Chancellery. After the Second
World War, the Hofkammerarchiv,
which in 1945 was merged with the
Finanzarchiv, became the Third Sec-
tion of the Austrian state archives and
was officially designated as “Finanz-
und Hofkammerarchiv”.

The documents of the Hofkammerarchiv
R SE Y B aE

The Hofkammerarchiv houses in-
valuable treasures. Its holdings comprise
more than 30 million files, over 11,000
thick volumes of protocols and index-
es, approx. 12,000 maps and plans, as
well as valuable old documents. The
oldest of these, a charter issued by
Emperor Frederick Barbarossa (about
1125-1190) to the monastery of St. Paul
in Carinthia dates back to 1170. Deci-
sions that shaped the economic develop-
ment of Central Europe are embodied
in the documents collected from 1500

onwards. Amongst thousands of vol-
umes we find one thick tome containing
meticulously drawn and painted maps
bearing testimony to the first road
which the Austrians built through the
Dalmatian coastland. Another thick
volume contains a complete set of pat-
terns of the Bohemian lace and embroi-
dery manufacturers, which had been
collected and glued into the book by
one of Maria Theresa’s civil servants.
The Hofkammerarchiv holds records
of very important decisions on war or
peace, of family affairs of the “supreme
imperial house” but also of matters con-
cerning the lowest-ranking employees
of the postal service, matters of artistic
and cultural interest, and even of a
most peculiar nature. One such curio-
sity is the report on a medical investi-
gation, signed by four witnesses,
which dates back to 1732. It reads as
follows:

“After it had been reported that, in
the village of Meduwelt, so-called vampi-
res had killed 17 persons by sucking
their blood, we were ordered by the
honourable high command. to go there
in order to carry out a thorough inves-
tigation of this matter. The villagers
unanimously agreed that Arnont
Pavle, who bhad broken bis neck when

Depiction of colonists’ houses — proto-
types which were builtin the Banat
region between Arad and Lippa.
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Depiction of the thermal bath of Mehadia
in the Banat, 1767.

be had fallen off a hay cart, had eaten
earth from a vampire’s grave in bis life-
time, and besmirched himself with the
blood of that vampire. Therefore, they
argued he had become a vampire him-
self after bis death and bhad killed four
persons. In order to eradicate this evil,

we went to the cemetery and bhad the
graves of suspected vampires dug up.

The corpse of Pavle was exbumed and it
was found that it showed no signs of
putrefaction and that fresh blood
oozed out of his eyes, nose, mouth and
ears, and that new nails had grown on
his bands and feet. As the villagers con-
cluded from these signs that the corpse
was that of a genuine vampire, they
drove a stake through his heart, upon

which the corpse croaked. So they cut
off bis head and burnt it together with
the body. Then they proceeded in the
same way with all other corpses which
they believed were vampires. The other
exbumed corpses which had decayed
as ‘decent’ corpses do, were replaced in
their graves.”

As regards the other 81 collections,
four holdings dating back to 1749 and
four covering the period after 1762
deserve special mention. In the years
1749 to 1762, the Hofkammerarchivde
facto did not exist. In general, it can be
said that after the reopening of the Hof~
kammer in 1762, the flow of records
reaching the archive began to follow a
more systematic and regular pattern.
Sections with clearly defined tasks star-
ted to take shape, whereas previously
records had been arranged in a some-
what higgledy-piggledly fashion.

The Herrschaftsakten (the demesne
records) deal with the sovereigns’ pri-



vate property, their towns and market
towns, fiefs, domains, the confiscated
property of unruly nobles
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to feudal tenure, war exp
diplomatic expenses, including
costs incurred for formal entertaining
and festivities and for the travels of the
sovereigns’ envoys. The records con-
tain detailed lists of the amounts of
money and accurate descriptions of all
the artistic utensils, such as clocks,
goblets, weapons and mechanical toys
given as presents to influential officers
in Turkey and of the enormous sums
spent on banquets for the Turkish lega-
tion, whose members not only enjoyed
the pleasures of the table but were also
only too eager to forget that they were

nota]lowed o _drink alcohol. ’rhe‘ ts

. and
hers, but also
N pers rendered
their services , but many an
elgguent petition to be addressed
tONENe before it would
final amous artists, such as
Albred er, Tiziano Vecellio,
known 35 Tizian, Johann Bernhard
Fischer von Erlach (1656-1723), Chri-
stoph Willibald Gluck (1714-1787) or
Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart (1756—
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artists, poets
alchemists

1791) to name but a few, were not in a
ich better position than the lowest-
r “Kuchlmensch’, the unskilled

The guilder that Emperor
: Knight, had qrder-

om the mines were, how-

ly second in importance as the

es mainly served as a security for
state loans. The expected revenues
were pledged as collateral. These
mining and minting records not only
refer to matters of administration and
personnel matters, but also contain a
wealth of other documents, such as
maps, plans of mines, production
tables, drawings of technical equip-
ment, drafts of coin designs and even
some samples of metals and ores. Tech-
nology or the “arts” as it was referred to
in the past, developed through mining
and the collection of maps and plans of




the archive offers researchers a wealth
of materials on its history.

The Kreditakten (credit records) illu-
strate that it was necessary to win the
support of domestic and foreign credi-
tors at almost any cost in order to be
able to finance urgent investments and
expenses. They also demonstrate how
in times of crisis, the credit system and
the currency became increasingly ero-
ded and how, after inflation and state
bankruptcy, all efforts had to be devo-
ted to the creation of a sound economic
basis. The credit records give evidence
of the state budgets, the state debts, and
the state deficits. When studying these
records we also learn that Maria The-
resa ordered the introduction of paper
money already in peace-time so that
future wars could be financed more
easily. This collection also includes
documents which are of great signifi-
cance for the history of money, such as
banknotes, anticipation certificates, a
type of provisional paper money, and

Draft designs for the flags of th
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the drafts of the designs for the national
banknotes. The comprehensive collec-
tion of securities covering the period
from Maria Theresa’s reign up to the
First Republic also forms a noteworthy
part of the archive.

The Kommerzakten (commercial
records) give a survey of the economic
policy and promotion measures
through which the requirements of the
economy as a whole and its individual
branches were met. Comprehensive
files on toll and customs posts provide
information on the types of merchan-
dise traded and on the volume, origin,
trade routes and destination of goods.
They also throw light on state interven-
tions that burdened and influenced the
country’s economy, trade, crafts, agri-
culture and industries. We get a clear
idea of how the state sought to play an
active role in economic life by manag-
ing numerous mining enterprises, the
postal, salt and tobacco monopolies,
the major state domains, the national
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factories and last, but not least, the
court theatres. The state was involved
in the running of all conceivable
spheres of the economy of the Austro-
Hungarian monarchy. One of the five
country sections of the commercial
records, the Littoral section (i.e. on the
Adriatic coastland) is subdivided into
no less than 180 subsections. To
illustrate the great diversity of these
archival materials, a few examples can
be given: the draining of the marsh-
lands near Aquileia, the Academy of
flower painting, the Capitano di Porto
of Trieste, diamond cutting, inventions,
dyeing herbs, bell-founding, commer-
cial journeys and discoveries, intelli-
gence and reconnoitring papers,
village fairs, consular matters, trade
with the Levant, manufacture, nautical
studies, ox trading, porcelain factories,
quick-silver trading, bark tannery,
ocean navigation, the thaler “nego-
tium”, i.e. income from trade in Maria
Theresa thalers, clock-making, inspec-
tion of foreign ships, making of coats of
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soldiers. Even today, more than 200
years after Maria Theresa’s reign, many
great-grand-children of Hungarian and
Banat colonists, who emigrated to all
parts of the world after the two World
Wars, come to the Hofkammerarchivin
order to find out about their ancestors
in the old country - and sometimes they
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merarchiv, which, celebrated its
50th anniversary in 1995, like the Aus-
trian state archives has its own staff but
is not a building of its own for the rooms
for researchers and the deposit areas
are accommodated elsewhere — they
are located both in Himmelpfortgasse
in the building of the Ministry of
Finance, and in Johannesgasse.




The War Archive

The establishment of a central military
archive
IR T Y R

The origins of the Kriegsarchiv date
back to 1711, when the Hofkriegsriitli-
che Kanzleiarchiv (the aulic war coun-
cil chancellery archive) was founded
on the initiative of Prince Eugene of
Savoy, the then president of the aulic
war council. In line with practices in the
other court offices, this archive was to
preserve all the documents accumula-
ted by the aulic war council since its
foundation in 1556. In instructions
dated April 4, 1711, Bernhard Rosen-
baum (f 1729), the first archivist of the
newly established repository, was en-
trusted with arranging in an orderly
manner all the documentary materials
so far accumulated. At the same time,
he was instructed to draw up lists of all
the important documents in the archive
so that he could “stanta pede”, i.e. read-
ily, provide information on military
events and matters concerning the
organization of the armed forces. Thus,
right from the outset, the staff of the
archive was assigned the very signifi-
cant task of collecting and making avail-
able to the army information about
past military experiences. Little is
known about Rosenbaum’s activities.
The first few accounts concerning the
development of the archive go back no
farther than the period between 1729
and 1760, when Rosenbaum’s succes-
sor, Joseph Schottel headed the archive.
From these accounts we learn that, by
1748, the archive had taken over from
the aulic war council all the documents
for the period from 1556 to 1736. In
addition, it had, by then, acquired the
records of various field staffs and mili-
tary offices that had been disbanded. In
1750, it had taken over, for example, the
records of the Inner Austrian War Coun-
cil and bequests of high-ranking mili-
tary officers, which had previously
been stored in the Chancellery archive.
Thus the Aulic War Council Chancellery
Archive became a central military
archive, and established itself as such
when, in 1764, upon a proposal made
by General Moritz Count Lacy, the staff
of the archive was instructed to collect
maps, copies of which could be made

for use by the field staffs in the case of
war. In 1774, the archive which had
previously been located in the Hofburg
(the imperial castle) and the Schlosser-
hof on Seilerstitte in Vienna, was
moved to the aulic war council building
on the square Am Hof, the former
house of the professed monks of the
Society of Jesus. On this occasion, in
order to save space, the number of
documents was drastically reduced by
the removal of papers considered to be
unimportant.

Reorganization of the Chancellery
Archive
I I WETTN ST

In 1776, Field Marshal Andreas Count
Hadik (1711-1790) reorganized the
chancellery archive and assigned en-
tirely new functions to it. At the begin-
ning of the year, the Geniearchiv (mili-
tary engineering archive) with its large
collections of maps, plans and books,
was incorporated into the chancellery
archive. However, the new instruction
of December 21, 1776 departed from
the principle previously adhered to by
the central military archive as it provid-
ed for the creation of a selective
archive: important official documents,
contracts and treaties, deeds, etc. of the
aulic war council and other military
offices were to be arranged according
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to subject matter; special emphasis was
to be laid on cartographic material, and,
for the first time, mention was made of
an archival library. However, the
annual sets of protocols and documents
of the aulic war council previously
taken over by the archive were retur-
ned to the records office of the war
council, whereas the field records of
various military campaigns remained as
integral holdings in the chancellery
archive. In addition, material records,
such as seals were to be collected. In
1779, Emperor Joseph II ordered that
accounts be written on all military cam-
paigns since 1740, on the basis of offi-
cial and private documents in the chan-
cellery archive, as well as on materials
available from other court offices and
from family archives. These analyses,
which were intended to serve the eva-
luation of past military experiences ra-
ther than academic purposes, are still
available in manuscript form. They are
the first in a long series of studies on
military history which were carried out
subsequently.

Establishment of the “Kriegsarchiv” (war
archive)
B Dt o 4 S

In 1793, the Hofkriegsrditliche Kanz-
leiarchive (the aulic war council chan-
cellery archive) was united with the
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View of the city of Pressburg from an album of views from the time of the Turkish wars
between 1683 and 1699.
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newly created military deposits admini-
stration. This change, which imposed a
heavy burden of non-archival work on
the archive staff, proved extremely
harmful to the further development of
the archive. This administrative change
together with the great demands made
on the imperial army by the wars
against France, led to the reorganiza-
tion of the military archives in the Habs-
burg lands. On March 23, 1801,
Emperor Francis II, acting on the
recommendation of Field Marshal
Archduke Charles (1771-1847), appro-
ved the establishment of a “war
archive”, which was to be entirely inde-
pendent of the chancellery archive and
which was to be placed under the
supervision of the staff of the general
quartermaster; its personnel was to
consist of (general staff) officers. The
“Kanzleiarchiv” continued to exist as a
separate institution until 1846, when its
holdings were merged with those of the
aulic war council (designated as Mini-
stry of War after 1848). Finally, in 1889,
its holdings, as well as other collections
of the aulic war council, were taken
over by the Kriegsarchiv.

Thus, in the first half of the nine-
teenth century there were three diffe-
rent military archives in Vienna:
¢ the hofkriegsrdtliche Registratur, or
Registratur des Kriegsministeriums, as
it was called after 1848, which contai-
ned the records of the aulic war council
after 1556;
¢ the Kanzleiarchiv, which was united
with the military deposits administra-
tion; and
4 the Kriegsarchiv.

The rest of this chapter will be devo-
ted to the Kriegsarchiv which, in the
course of the next century, was to
become the only central military
archive in Austria.

Tasks of the War Archive
T S T

From the beginning, the main func-
tion of the Kriegsarchiv was to collect
material on military history which
would allow military leaders to gain
experience in warfare and army orga-
nization. For this purpose, in the follo-
wing years, documents were 'taken
from the records of aulic military and
administrative offices and combined
with the already existing or newly
accruing documents of the operating
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One page from the war diary of Eugene
Prince of Savoy, which he wrote in
French about his military expedition to

Bosnia from October 18 to November 8,
1697.

commands in the Alte Feldakten (old
field records) where they were filed
according to subject matter. Thus, a sel-
ective archive was created to serve very
specific purposes.

The archive was subdivided into
three groups:
4 the manuscripts section which was
responsible for the administration of
the field records,
¢ the topographical section with the
library (which became an independent
institution in 1806); and
4 the section for military history, which
was entrusted with the exploitation of
the archive’s holdings. In 1818, the
work delegated to the third section of
the Kriegsarchivwas entrusted to a spe-
cial department of the staff of general
quartermaster, later called the General-
stabsbiiro fiir Kriegsgeschichte, the
general staff bureau for military history.

As a result of this measure, the role of
the archive was restricted to the collec-
tion of materials, to which the staff of
the archive devoted all their energy.
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However, it was not until 1876, after the
aforementioned “general staff bureau”
had been integrated into the Kriegs-
archiv, that a series of studies on wars
waged by Austria was started with the
publication of a 20 volume work on the
military campaigns of Prince Eugene of
Savoy. Unfortunately, this project has
still not been completed. Also in 1876,
the first issue of the “Mitteilungen des
K .K.(from 1889 onwards k.u.k.) Kriegs-
Archivs” appeared in print and contin-
ued to be published until 1914. While
much historical material drawn mainly
from the Kriegsarchiv had, since 1801,
previously been published in the
“Osterreichische  Militdrische  Zeit-
schrift”the “Mitteilungen”was the first
journal to be published by the Kriegs-
archiv. At that time, the holdings of the
Kriegsarchiv were limited to the afore-
mentioned “old field records”. How-
ever, when, in 1889, the major portion
of the holdings of the aulic war council
archive were placed under the admini-
stration of the Kriegsarchiv, a first step
was taken towards its expansion into a
genuine central military archive. In the
years that followed, further holdings of
the aulic war council archive and docu-
ments stored in the offices of military
authorities were also transferred to the
Kriegsarchiv. In 1905, the Kriegsarchiv
moved into a building of its own, the
academy section of the Vienna Stiftska-
serne (“Stift barracks”) which had been
built in the years 1746 to 1750. The
archive remained there until 1991/93,
then, in the period from June 1991 to
June 1993, it was moved to the newly
built Austrian State Archives in the third
district of Vienna. It took 800 lorry trips
to transport the holdings of the Kriegs-
archivto their new destination.

Turning point: the First World War
R SRR

The First World War, which led to the
collapse of the Austro-Hungarian Mon-
archy in 1918, marked a major turning
point in the gradual transformation of
the Kriegsarchiv into a central archive.
Whereas, in the course of the war,
major parts of the field records collec-
tions had been sent to the Kriegsarchiu,
the collapse of the Monarchy and the
liquidation of the old army resulted in
the transfer of an enormous mass of
documents to the Kriegsarchiv. Within
a few years, the Kriegsarchiv had to
take over the archives of all the central



